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5

strategic objectives
to improve safety,
reduce risk and
prevent accidents
in British Columbia

1
Education and Outreach
To improve safety through education programs that
increase awareness of risks and influence changes
in behaviour.

2010 Highlights: We launched a revitalized BCSA
website that focuses on the needs of our clients
and provides new features for engagement and
ease of access.

2
Inspection
To improve our clients’ ability to manage risk and
reduce the probability of incidents by examining and
evaluating risk situations against our knowledge base.

We planned and executed an extensive and robust Olympic Safety Plan which ensured that
the 2010 Olympic and Paralympic Winter Games venues were properly assessed and
permitted, and operated by qualified personnel. The Games were successfully held without
any incident resulting from any of the technologies we regulate.

3
Enforcement
To promote sustained compliance with safety legislation
and to require regulated parties to take prompt
action to address risks and to impose sanctions
where necessary.

We managed a changing regulatory environment impacting the boiler, pressure vessel
and refrigeration industries. This included regulations governing staffing levels in low
pressure thermal fluid plants and acceptance of European biomass boilers to British
Columbia, and the introduction of alternative safety approaches.

4
Research
To improve our understanding of safety risks and how
best to avoid them.

We entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with Ontario’s Electrical
Safety Authority. This provides an opportunity for both organizations to
work together on issues and benefit from information sharing about safety
mandates, risks, policies and services.

5
The Business of Safety
To build a resilient, knowledge-based organization that
is sustainable.

Our employees donated their time, energy and
$36,450 to our charity of choice, the BC Children’s
Hospital, with an additional $10,000 in corporate
matching funds.

We signed a new Safety Standards Act Administrative
Agreement with the Province. The new agreement is in
effect until Dec. 31, 2034 with an automatic renewal for
successive five-year terms.

Our Evolution Continues
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Who We Are
At the British Columbia
Safety Authority we keep
people safe.

As the Province’s delegated authority, we mandate the safe installation
and use of technical equipment. We are a not-for-profit organization
that administers safety standards through education, and through
issuing permits and licences. We also enforce compliance to standards
to ensure consistency and fairness, and conduct onsite inspections –
particularly in high-risk situations. We continuously research trends to
advance the standard of safe practices in our province.
What We Do

In order to prevent accidents, our services include:

We deliver safety services that apply to equipment and products,
and oversee the safety of the following industry sectors in 		
the province:
• Amusement rides
• Boilers, pressure vessels and refrigeration systems
• Electrical equipment and systems
• Elevating devices such as elevators and escalators
• Natural gas or propane appliances and systems, including
		 hydrogen
• Passenger ropeways such as aerial trams and ski lifts, and
• Railways, including rapid transit
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• Inspecting technical work and equipment, including
		 collecting information through incident investigation
		 and registering new equipment and designs
• Taking enforcement actions that encourage an
		 impartial and equitable safety system in BC
• Educating clients and the public about safety issues
• Certifying individuals and licensing contractors  
• Supporting clients in the development of equivalent
		 standards agreements, and auditing their safety 			
		 management plans
• Conducting research, including contributing to provincial
		 and national code development and updating regulations
		 for each industry sector we oversee.
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Our Vision
We inspire safety excellence in 		
British Columbia.
Our Mission
We collaborate with British Columbians
to enhance the safety of technical
systems, products, equipment and work.
Our Values
Integrity
We are impartial and use a
disciplined approach.
Pride
We are passionate about protecting
the public from safety risks.
Trust
We earn the respect and credibility of
each other, our clients and the public.
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Message from
the Chair

The Safety Authority and the safety system continue to evolve. It is
our responsibility to direct this evolution effectively and to use it to
build a safer British Columbia.

It is both my privilege and pleasure to present the 2010 Annual
Report of the BC Safety Authority to the people of British Columbia.
The year 2010 brought a number of challenges and opportunities to
the Safety Authority and to the province’s safety system as a whole.
We experienced an economy that was uncertain. But that did not
keep us from pursuing enhancements to the safety system. We
remained focused on preventing accidents and managing risks.
Safety and the need to build on it were constant reminders that our
work serves the communities and industries of our province. Our
efforts to provide transparency and accountability remained
unchanged. But to keep up with the challenges of a dynamic and
growing province, we proactively guided and directed the evolution
of the Safety Authority rather than allowing circumstances to shape us.
By receiving a fresh mandate from the Province, we affirmed that
the safety authority model works. The renewed administrative
agreement clarifies the Province’s expectations of the Safety
Authority with new performance objectives and targets that
align with our strategic plan. It also establishes a separate
protocol agreement to spell out the Safety Authority’s roles and
responsibilities in assisting the Province in the development of
legislation, the adoption of codes and standards, and communications.

The Safety Authority and the safety system continue to evolve. It is
our responsibility to direct this evolution effectively and to use it to
build a safer British Columbia. Through these past years, we have
enhanced the way we manage and analyze information gathered
from incidents. We have also placed more focus on risk-based
work. Both initiatives have advanced our province’s state of safety.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank Harry Diemer, founding
President and Chief Executive Officer, who brought vision, leadership
and unstinting passion to the BC Safety Authority. Harry retired at the
end of March 2011. He left behind a strong and determined
organization – a testimony of his outstanding service to our province.
The Board of Directors conducted a comprehensive and rigorous
search process and the President and Chief Executive Officer
position was assumed by Catherine Roome, our Chief Operating
Officer since 2007.
I thank my fellow Board Members, the Executive Team and BC
Safety Authority staff for their professionalism, hard work and
commitment to safety.
Sincerely,
Peter Cook

Chair of the Board
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Message from the
President and Chief
Executive Officer*

I use the Olympics to highlight how much of the work done to
keep the province safe is accomplished behind the scenes. That
is because the operational philosophy that we follow is to prevent
accidents and manage risks before they become a threat to life
and property.
The year 2010 started on a high note for the BC Safety Authority.
While the world watched as British Columbia proudly hosted the
2010 Olympic and Paralympic Winter Games, a large contingent of
BCSA staff were on hand, ready to be deployed if a technical issue
or incident occurred in any of the Olympic venues. For several years
before the event, this same group had been thoroughly assessing the
venues, making sure that they were properly permitted and operated
by qualified personnel. They did this over and above their regular daily
responsibilities. The Games ended without a single significant
incident related to the technologies that we regulate affirming that
the intense oversight that we had provided was well worth it.
I use the Olympics to highlight how much of the work done to keep
the province safe is accomplished behind the scenes. That is because
the operational philosophy that we follow is to prevent accidents and
manage risks before they become a threat to life and property.
Through this report, we would like you to have an understanding of
the strategies and actions we took to support the objectives that we
had mapped out in our Strategic Plan 2010-2012. This is one way
for us to provide transparency to the public that we serve. This report
also presents our audited financial statements including an in-depth
analysis as part of our commitment to remain accountable.
We pursued all strategic objectives with equal importance knowing
that dependencies existed between them. Data collected from

				

inspection and enforcement provides our research efforts with
information that is subjected to study and analysis. Our education
programs are research-based and target a variety of audiences
including contractors. This in turn gives our safety officers valuable
content and material to engage clients. We collaborate with other
parties in the safety system; from fee consultations with stakeholders,
to joint investigations with first responders and support for the
Province in developing legislation.
It is a system that evolves along with changes in the province.
The Safety Authority will continue to provide oversight with the
view that all these changes will lead to safety improvements and
enhancements for the people of British Columbia.
I offer my profound thanks to our dedicated and safety-driven
employees whom I have had the privilege of working with these
past years. I also thank our Board of Directors who has consistently
provided support and direction.
Harry Diemer

President and Chief Executive Officer
*(retired March 2011)
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Strategic Foundation

During 2010, the BC Safety Authority stayed the course and
continued to build on the foundational components of our
operational strategy, namely focusing on: education and
outreach, research, inspection, and enforcement.
We also maintained our commitment to build a resilient, knowledge

We also acknowledged changes that may affect the safety system

based organization that is sustainable.

and proactively managed these changes so that they may translate
to improvements and enhancements.

These components work together to improve safety, reduce risk and
prevent accidents.

By working and collaborating with many others in industry who value
safety as much as we do, we are improving the safety system and

Throughout 2010, we implemented strategies and initiatives to fulfill

instituting improvements that will provide a comprehensive safety

the objectives set out in our Strategic Plan 2010-2012 and strengthen

environment for our clients, stakeholders and all British Columbians.

the safety system – the practices, processes and systems that
provide structure and consistency to our day-to-day operations.
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Report On
Performance

The BC Safety Authority operates on a three-year strategic plan
composed of key corporate objectives, measurable targets and
strategies for meeting those objectives and targets.

Introduction
The three-year strategic plan is revisited every year to ensure that
new research and emerging trends and challenges are taken into
account – this keeps the plan always current and relevant.
Our Strategic Plan 2010-2012 was driven by five objectives that
support our operational strategy aimed at preventing accidents.
These are education and outreach, inspection, enforcement, research
and the business of safety – the last referring to an organizational
system that cohesively brings the other four together. These five
objectives collaborate to support a safety system that continues to
evolve and improve.

					

The tables and discussion for each objective that follow summarize
our progress in 2010 and are based on year-end reporting. The tables
of targets and results have been audited. The strategies highlighted
here are those that contributed significantly to the measurement
ratings reflecting our stated objectives.
As a complement to our annual reports, the BC Safety Authority
also issues a yearly State of Safety Report which extensively covers
incidents, inspection and enforcement activities in each of the
regulated technologies. The data gathered is used to identify and
analyze trends and risks. This report can be reviewed in its entirety
at www.safetyauthority.ca/about/publications.
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Strategic Objective 1/
Education and Outreach

To improve safety through education programs that increase
awareness of risks and influence changes in behaviour

» RESULTS

MEASURABLE TARGET
Manage five education programs

Managed four education programs
One program withdrawn from development in 2010

Achieve 80% education effectiveness
based on client survey

Achieved 79% education effectiveness

The BCSA’s thrust towards education and outreach was driven by the
belief that better-informed and better-engaged British Columbians will
reduce risks and improve safety across the province.
Strategic Objective 1: Analysis/ 		
Education And Outreach
The BCSA’s thrust towards education and outreach was driven by
the belief that better-informed and better-engaged British Columbians
will reduce risks and improve safety across the province. By making
research-based information available to the public and private sectors,
and proactively consulting with stakeholders and industry, we were
able to enhance a continuously-evolving safety system.
Our long-term commitment to education is rooted in programs that
we undertook in 2010. All of which were done in collaboration with
industry. These included:
Think Permit / a multi-year public awareness program that delivers
targeted electrical and gas safety messages through specific
channels. The focus of the Think Permit program is to educate
British Columbia homeowners about the importance of obtaining
permits for regulated electrical and gas work, and to encourage
them to hire a licensed contractor.
Electrical Tech Talks / a multi-year program designed to educate
electrical professionals about specific technical and regulatory topics
through an ongoing series of interactive tutorials. While the focus
in 2010 was on building on the foundation of the existing regional
Electrical Tech Talks program, the goal for the future is to expand
the program across all BCSA technologies.
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Have a Safe Ride / a multi-year safety awareness program aimed
at young users of above-surface passenger ropeways (i.e., chairlifts)
at BC’s ski areas. Research data showed that several chairlift-related
incidents were a result of user error. The program was developed in
collaboration with the Canada West Ski Areas Association (CWSAA),
and delivered through BC ski areas and other outdoor education
channels. 2010 is the second year of the program’s existence.
Safe Rider / a multi-year safety awareness program designed to
educate the passenger rail-riding public about safe riding practices.
The program was developed in collaboration with SkyTrain and
Canada Line, and delivered through a series of in-station awareness
events throughout the year. 2010 is the second year of the
program’s existence.
A client survey was performed to assess how clients regarded the
BCSA’s effectiveness in education and outreach. We achieved a
79% average percentage from contractors and operating permit
holders who responded excellent, very good and good when asked
about their perception of how well BCSA performs in these areas.
While this did not meet the target, it showed an improvement over
the previous year’s 76% rating.
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Strategic Objective 2/
Inspection

To improve our clients’ ability to manage risk and reduce the probability of
incidents by examining and evaluating risk situations against our knowledge base
MEASURABLE TARGET

» RESULTS

Implement improvements in Safety
Certification Qualifications

Implemented improvements in Safety
Certification Qualifications

• Design Elevator Mechanic 		
		 Certification Program

• Designed Elevator Mechanic
		 Certification Program

•
		
		
		

•
		
		
		

Conduct consultation
regarding Electrical Field
Safety Representative
re-certification

Deferred further consultation
regarding Electrical Field Safety 		
Representative re-certification
to Q1 2011

Shift 3% additional safety officer
resources to higher risk work

Shifted over 29% additional safety
officer resources to higher risk work

Achieve 69% consistency based
on client survey

Achieved 91% consistency

Inspecting technical work and equipment is a major component
of the safety system. Safety officers are able to engage clients
and support them in assessing and reducing risks.
Strategic Objective 2: Analysis/ 		
Inspection
Inspecting technical work and equipment is also an opportunity
to collect information that could add value to research and further
improvement of safety practices.
The BCSA’s inspection activities are based on a risk assessment
program that assigns risk scores to regulated work and equipment.
This helps safety officers prioritize inspection and audit activities
towards higher-risk regulated work. In 2010, the BCSA shifted
more safety officer resources to higher-risk work to better address
risk situations.
The qualifications of personnel doing regulated work and attending
to regulated equipment play a key role in the safety system.
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Presently, the elevating devices industry has neither consistent
standards to determine the qualifications of elevator mechanics in
British Columbia, nor a system to assess their capabilities.
To address this situation, the BCSA worked closely with the elevating
devices industry to design an Elevator Mechanic Certification Program
that is set for implementation in 2012. The program covers mandatory
requirements and professional performance standards for British
Columbia’s elevator mechanics.
The BCSA also sought to introduce a program of continuing
education and certification renewal for electrical field safety
representatives (FSR). This would assure that FSRs remain current
with their knowledge – a requirement under the Safety Standards
Act and a means to strengthen safety. Development of the program
met with substantial and varied stakeholder input, necessitating the
requirement for further consultation with industry.

British Columbia Safety Authority | 2010 Annual Report | Report On Performance

The past year also marked significant regulatory changes affecting the
boiler, pressure vessel and refrigeration industry. Following consultations
with industry, regulations governing staffing levels in low pressure
thermal fluid plants were removed provided that the plant used an
approved automated control system with specified capabilities.
The BCSA is now in collaboration with TUV Austria, a technical safety
oversight body, in developing procedures to import European biomass
boilers to British Columbia. This is a considerable shift from the
traditional process of only accepting North American standards and
is an innovative harmonization on an international level.
And on a much wider scale, the Provincial Government made changes
to the Safety Standards Act that will introduce Alternative Safety
Approaches or ASA. The ASA allows owners and operators of

					

regulated equipment to replace prescriptive requirements of safety
regulations with a new and more comprehensive approach while
meeting the objectives of the Safety Standards Act without
compromising safety. This approach is optional to industry
stakeholders. The BCSA has been designing processes and
procedures and extensively consulting with stakeholders to
support the ASA and its April 2011 start.
A client survey was conducted to determine how clients rated
the BCSA in terms of the organization’s knowledge about industry,
consistency in applying rules and interpreting regulations, codes
and standards. We received a 91% rating from contractors and
operating permit holders; far exceeding the 69% target rate.
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Strategic Objective 3/

Enforcement

To promote sustained compliance with safety legislation and to require regulated parties
to take prompt action to address risks and to impose sanctions where necessary
MEASURABLE TARGET

» RESULTS

Close 70% of compliance orders
within established turnaround time

Closed 60.4% of compliance orders
within established turnaround time

Achieve compliance for 62% of
compliance orders without further action

Achieved compliance for 72.4% of
compliance orders without further action

We maintained our drive to promote compliance by working on our
enforcement efforts and strategies in 2010. We firmly believe that this
will lead to an equitable environment for all participants in the safety
system and improve safety in general.
Strategic Objective 3: Analysis/ 		
Enforcement

in our enforcement objective. Closure meant that the order was
complied with, withdrawn or that a progressive enforcement action
was taken.

There were 192 enforcement actions issued by the BCSA in 2010.
These included compliance orders, monetary penalties, suspension
or revocation of contractor licences, and the suspension of permit
privileges and certificates of qualifications. The statistics on these
actions were made available to the public through the BCSA’s
website and trade publications. A more detailed presentation of
enforcement statistics may be found in our State of Safety Report.

Within this turnaround time, we succeeded in closing over 60% of
compliance orders. However, we will re-evaluate the turnaround
time to consider account process performance and the implementation
of revised enforcement processes. Over 70% of compliance orders
achieved compliance without need of further action.

A compliance order is most commonly issued to require a person
to take action, stop, or modify their regulated work or use of a
regulated product because it doesn’t meet code or otherwise
contravenes the legislation. We set a turnaround time of 80 days to
close an order as a means of improving efficiencies and effectiveness
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We made improvements to document data that was relevant to
enforcement in our core business system. Ease of access to
centralized documents resulted in efficiencies in the different
processes involved in enforcement.
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Strategic Objective 4/
Research

To improve our understanding of safety
risks and how best to avoid them
MEASURABLE TARGET

» RESULTS

Publish four reports or
research papers

Published five reports or
research papers

The BCSA produces reports or research papers that contain
measurements, analyses and planning. These support the other
strategic objectives by providing knowledge and information
necessary in making improvements in processes,
procedures and policies.
Strategic Objective 4: Analysis/ 		
Research
Every year, some of these reports are published and are made
available to the public. This is consistent with our bid to maintain
transparency and accountability with the province that we serve.
In the past year, published reports included:
• The BCSA Annual Report 2009, which assessed the targets
		 we set in our Strategic Plan and understand how they 		
		 impacted our business in the past year.
• The State of Safety Report 2009, which summarized a year
		 of research and data, and helped us to observe safety trends
		 and apply our experience to areas of changing risk.

					

•
		
		
		

The Annual Report on Safety Regulations 2009, which 		
summarized the new and ongoing actions of the Safety 		
Authority and the provincial government that help further 		
improve public safety in BC.

• And our Strategic Plan 2011 - 2013, which set business
		 objectives and anticipated challenges for the next three years.
In 2010, we issued the Excalibur Incident Investigation Report – the
result of an exhaustive and comprehensive investigation into the
events and factors leading to the collapse of a tower on the Excalibur
Gondola in Whistler. The report was made available on our website
and widely covered by mainstream media in British Columbia which
highlighted the report’s recommendations to prevent the recurrence
of a similar incident.
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Strategic Objective 5/

Business of Safety

To build a resilient, knowledge-based
organization that is sustainable
MEASURABLE TARGET

» RESULTS

Limit the deficiency of revenue over
expenditures to $696,000

Limited deficiency of revenue
overexpenditures at $506,000

Maintain an operating reserve that
funds up to three months (25%) of
the annual operating budget

Maintained an operating reserve at a
minimum of three months of annual
operating budget

Document and initiate 100% of control
plans for critical and high risks in
each technology

Documented and initiated 88% of
control plans for critical and high risks
in each technology

Document and initiate 75% of control
plans for medium risks in each
technology

Documented and initiated 96% of
control plans for medium risks in
each technology

Achieve 85% client satisfaction rate
based on client survey

Achieved 80% client satisfaction rate

Achieve 8% public awareness rate
based on client survey

Achieved 4% public awareness rate

Achieve 81% employee engagement
rate based on employee survey

Achieved 80% employee engagement rate

We endeavour to be prudent and transparent in exercising fiscal
responsibility. Being financially strong allows us to consistently
provide the necessary safety services.
Strategic Objective 5: Analysis/ 		
Business of Safety
To provide the best oversight possible for the safety system of
British Columbia, the BCSA must achieve and maintain operational
excellence, be forward-looking and sustainable.
The BCSA is a self-funded organization generating revenues
from fees charged for installation and operating permits, licensing,
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certification, equipment approval and design registration. We
endeavour to be prudent and transparent in exercising fiscal
responsibility. Being financially strong allows us to consistently
provide the necessary safety services.
While the year 2010 started with strong revenue growth, this
significantly slowed in the summer until late fall. We ended the year
with a $506,000 deficiency of revenue over expenses. We met the
difficult economic environment with a guarded approach in managing
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our expenses while ensuring that we delivered onour safety services.
Expenses were kept 1.1% below the budgeted target. A detailed
account of our financial performance can be found in the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis section of this report.

To ensure that we remain engaged as a team, we hired an
independent research organization to conduct an employee survey.
Overall staff engagement, satisfaction and commitment remained
high at 80%, above the national norm of 76%.

A fundamental element that exists in our organizational philosophy
is risk management. Control plans were set in place to prioritize
and assess risks that were identified at the start of the year. The
plans rated risks to maintain accurate classification as critical, high,
medium and low. At the end of the year, seven out of eight high
risk control plans, and 22 out of 23 medium risk control plans were
documented and initiated.

Another hallmark of a strong organization is good client service.
This is doubly important for the BCSA as clients will be encouraged
to support the safety system if they feel well served by our employees.
A client survey showed that the BCSA achieved an 80% client
satisfaction rate among contractors and permit holders who
responded excellent, very good or good when asked to rate the
BCSA’s overall performance and services. Although clients and
contractors are well aware of the BCSA and our safety services,
a public opinion poll posted only a 4% awareness of the BCSA
withoutprompts or aid. The organization will continue to strive
to raise its profile as this is indicative of public support for the
safety system.

The strength of our organization rests on a workforce that is
passionate about safety, well-engaged and well-equipped to
pursue their work. We supported our people with relevant training,
a competitive compensation and reward package, and progressive
workplace management. Managers and staff were involved in a
project to efficiently map out workforce resources to serve the
future state of the organization. This project is still ongoing.
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Corporate Governance
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In performing its functions, the Board also considers the legitimate
interests of industry, communities and government.
The Role of the Board
The members of the Board of Directors are the stewards of the
BC Safety Authority. They have the fiduciary responsibility of
overseeing the conduct of the business and ensuring that all
major issues affecting the business and affairs of the organization
are given proper consideration. In performing its functions,
the Board also considers the legitimate interests of industry,
communities and government.

Basic Qualifications
Members of the Board of the BC Safety Authority must meet the
basic requirements established in the Safety Authority Act. As well,
all appointments to the Board of the BC Safety Authority must
comply with the provisions related to qualifications for directors
and conflicts contained in the Safety Authority Act and in the BC
Safety Authority’s Conflict of Interest Code.

Director Selection
Section 8 of the Safety Authority Act provides that the Board will
consist of at least nine but not more than 15 members. The Minister
may appoint up to three directors. The remaining directors are
appointed by the sitting Directors. Non-government candidates for
the Board are screened and short-listed by a nominating committee
based on the knowledge, skills and abilities of the candidates. The
Directors make the final selection from a list of suitable candidates
provided by the Nominating Committee.

and processes for selecting members of the Board, other than
Minister-appointed members. The Committee maintains an inventory
of the skills and experience of all sitting directors which is used to
identify the Board’s needs in terms of skills and experience when
recruiting new Board members.

Nominating Process for Vacancies
The Governance and Human Resources Committee, acting in
its capacity as the Nominating Committee, is responsible for
administering the process to fill vacancies on the Board of Directors.
To begin, the Committee recommends to the Board for approval the
criteria for selection of candidates, including skills and experience
necessary to enhance the performance of the Board.
Board vacancies are advertised in regional newspapers throughout
British Columbia and a notice is sent to BCSA stakeholders. Trade
organizations or business groups may also be contacted to attract
applicants from diverse backgrounds. The recruitment process is
also posted on the BCSA website. The Corporate Secretary receives
applications and responds to enquiries from interested applicants.
The Nominating Committee reviews applications and may interview
any or all applicants. Based on the relevant criteria, the Committee
submits to the Board a list of at least one more nominee than the
number required to fill the vacancies on the Board.
The Board reviews the nominees and makes its selection from the
list submitted by the Committee based upon the principle of merit.

As set out in its Terms of Reference, the Governance and Human
Resources Committee acts as the Nominating Committee. As such,
it is responsible for developing, reviewing and monitoring the criteria
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Nominating Process for Renewal Terms
1
Determine 		
Attributes
Review by
Nominating
Committee to
determine attributes
for new members
against skills
matrix

»

2
Launch
Recruitment
Recruitment
Launched
   • Material posted
on BCSA
website
   • Notice sent to
stakeholders
   • Ad published in
regional papers
   • Trade &
professional
associations

»

Nominating
Committee receives
applications and
meets to shortlist
applicants

4
Recommend

Recommendations
considered
by Board

   • Interviews
shortlist
candidates

»

5
Appoint

Board appoints
candidate(s)
to Board and
candidate(s)
accept(s)
appointment(s)

   • Makes decision
on candidates to
be recommended
to the Board
   • Checks
references and		
conducts criminal
records checks 		
as appropriate

Nominating Process for Renewal Terms
Where the term of an incumbent director is about to expire and
the incumbent is eligible for re-appointment and wishes to remain
on the Board for a further term, it is considered that no vacancy
on the Board exists. Therefore, the Board may re-appoint the
incumbent using the process for renewal terms outlined below,
provided that the incumbent has performed satisfactorily.
The Governance and Human Resources Committee acting as
the Nominating Committee co-ordinates the evaluation process
for the director(s) to be re-appointed and makes the appropriate
recommendation to the Board. The Chair of the Board, in
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»

3
Meet

consultation with the Chair of the Governance and Human
Resources Committee, completes an evaluation with respect
to each director to be appointed. The Chair of the Board may also
consult others, including the President and Chief Executive Officer,
as deemed advisable.
The evaluation of each Board member is reviewed by the members
of the Nominating Committee at an in-camera meeting.
The Board reviews the recommendation and confirms or
rejects the re-appointment based upon the principle of merit.
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Director Orientation
1
Evaluation
Process

»

Nominating
Committee
coordinates
process for
re-appointment
of candidate(s)

2
Chair
Evaluation
Board and
Governance &
Human Resources
Committee
Chairs complete
an evaluation
form for each
candidate

»

3
Review &
Recommend
Evaluations
are reviewed
Nominating
Committee and
recommendation(s)
submitted to
the Board

»

4
Appoint

Board appoint(s)
candidate(s) and
candidate(s)
accept(s)
appointment(s)

Director Orientation

Ongoing Director Education

Prior to attending their first meeting, new Directors are provided
with an orientation and education program to assist them in
understanding the duties and obligations of Directors and the
contribution that individual Directors are expected to make. The
Governance and Human Resources Committee is responsible
for the design and delivery of the orientation program.

The Board recognizes the importance of ongoing director education
and the need for each director to take personal responsibility for
this process.

Upon becoming a Board member, each Director is provided
with a substantial package of documents relating to the BCSA’s
governance system and its business. As well, the BCSA’s
executive team meets with new Directors to deliver presentations
on their areas of accountability and to answer questions about
the organization.
In addition new members are provided with links to enable them
to locate information, such as relevant legislation online. Members
are also introduced to the Board’s external website which contains
further reference material. This allows new board members to
access information at their own convenience.
Finally, new board members also receive a tour of the corporate
office together with an Occupational Health and Safety briefing. In
2010 all newly appointed directors attended an orientation session
delivered by the Board Chair and Executive Team prior to attending
their first Board meeting.

					

To facilitate ongoing education, the Governance and Human
Resources Committee:
• Periodically canvases the directors to determine their training
		 and education needs and interests;
• Arranges for the attendance, at the BCSA’s expense, at
		 seminars or conferences of interest and relevance to their 		
		 position as a director of the BC Safety Authority; and
• Encourages and facilitates presentations by staff and by
		 outside experts to the Board or committees on matters of 		
		 particular importance or emerging significance.
Procedures are also in place to ensure that the Board is kept up to
date and has timely access to all information necessary to carry out
its duties. This includes:
• Receiving a comprehensive package of documentation at
		 least seven days in advance in preparation for Board and 		
		 Committee meetings;
• Attending an annual two-day strategic planning session; and
• Receiving reports from each of the Board Committees on
		 their work at previous committee meetings.
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In 2010, eight of twelve directors attended a workshop organized
jointly with the Ontario Electrical Safety Authority where the keynote
speaker was Dr. Malcolm Sparrow, an acknowledged authority on
issues of regulatory policy, risk control and enforcement strategy.
Individual directors also attended courses provided by the Institute
of Corporate Directors on:

Committees of the Board
Each committee operates according to a Board-approved mandate
outlining its duties and responsibilities. When required, these
committees make recommendations to the Board for approval.
The 2010 Committee structure included the:

• Committee Life Cycle – Key Responsibilities

• Finance and Audit Committee

• Not-for-Profit Governance Essentials Program

• Governance and Human Resources Committee
(also serves as the Nominating Committee)

• Role of the Board in Corporate Risk Oversight
• Navigating Good Governance in Crown Corporations
• Standing Committees of the Board - Ensuring That They
		 Help Rather Than Hinder Effective Corporate Governance
Deloitte & Touche also conducted a course on: Beyond Compliance
– Preparing for Year End Audit Committee Meetings.
At regular Board meetings directors also received presentations
made by staff on significant initiatives at BCSA (Olympic Safety Plan
and Alternative Safety Approaches) and by external speakers on
enforcement and the impact of regulation on independent business.

Board Performance Assessment
The Governance & Human Resources Committee conducts an
annual survey to evaluate the overall effectiveness of the Board
and the Board and Committee Chairs. The Board Chair also
solicits feedback from individual directors every year through
one-on-one meetings.
Board Governance Survey
Each year directors complete a detailed questionnaire for quantitative
and qualitative ratings in the following areas:
• Personal performance and contribution
• Performance of the Board as a whole, including
		 Board and Committee structure and processes
• Effectiveness of the Board in fulfilling its objectives
Feedback may also be solicited from the executive team on
Board performance.
The Corporate Secretary administers the questionnaire and prepares
a summary report (without identifying individuals). The Governance
& Human Resources Committee reviews the report and makes any
recommendations for changes to enhance the performance of the
Board and its Committees. The Board reviewed the 2010 report
and concluded that directors were generally satisfied with the overall
effectiveness of the Board.
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• Information Technology Task Force
• Strategic Advisory Committee
The Finance and Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling
its oversight responsibilities relating to the BC Safety Authority’s
financial reporting, accounting systems, budgets, internal controls
and audit process.
The Governance and Human Resources Committee assists
the Board in oversight responsibilities relating to the BC Safety
Authority’s governance, compensation and human resource policies
and strategies. The Committee also serves as the Nominating
Committee. In 2010 a working group was formed under the
auspices of the Governance & Human Resources Committee to
conduct a search to replace the President and Chief Executive
Officer who had announced his retirement. The working group
oversaw the selection process and made recommendations to
the Board on the appointment of a new Chief Executive Officer.
The Information Technology Task Force assists the Board in
oversight responsibilities and decision making in respect of potential
significant investment in information technology arising within the
2013 strategic planning timeframe. The main purpose of this Task
Force is to ensure that the Board has the information and advice
it needs to make informed decisions respecting the rationale,
scope, objectives and outcomes for any significant investment in
information technology.
The Strategic Advisory Committee assists the Board in fulfilling
its oversight responsibilities in the areas of strategic planning,
business planning, regulatory review and change, and enterprise
risk management.

In-Camera Sessions
It is the practice of the Board and committees to hold in-camera
sessions at the conclusion of each regularly scheduled meeting.
This is a standing agenda item for all meetings. The directors
meet first with the President and Chief Executive Officer followed
by a further session with no members of management present.
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Code of Conduct for Directors
Each Director must sign an annual disclosure statement and comply
with the BC Safety Authority’s Conflict of Interest Code. The BC
Safety Authority’s mandate requires that its policies and practices

					

be driven by safety. Directors must not be affected (or perceived to
be affected) by conflicting interests or conflicting loyalties. The BC
Safety Authority requires that its directors and senior officers comply
with applicable statutory standards and practice high ethical standards
of business conduct.
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BCSA Board of Directors
Record of Attendance by Directors for the 12 months ended December 31, 2010
Directors

Board Meetings
13 meetings

Finance & Audit
5 meetings

IT Task Force
6 meetings

Governance &
Human Resources
5 meetings

G&HR Working
Group
3 meetings

Strategic Advisory
Committee
7 meetings

Total

Richard Ballantyne

12/13

4/4

6/6

2/2

-

6/7

30/32

Peter Cook

13/13

5/5

6/6

5/5

2/2

7/7

38/38

Hoss Budde1

10/11

-

-

3/3

-

-

13/14

Brian Fehr

12/13

-

-

3/3

2/2

7/7

24/25

Tom Fletcher 2

2/2

-

-

-

-

3/3

5/5

Steve Lornie 1

11/11

4/4

-

-

-

-

15/15

Dan Miller

11/13

-

-

5/5

2/2

-

18/20

George Morfitt 2

2/2

1/1

-

-

-

-

3/3

Dan Mott

13/13

-

-

3/5

-

-

16/18

Janet Pau

12/13

5/5

-

-

-

7/7

24/25

Lorna Pawluk

13/13

1/1

-

2/2

2/2

4/4

22/22

Lorne Seitz 2

2/2

1/1

-

2/2

-

-

5/5

Leigh Ann Shoji-Lee1

9/11

-

-

-

-

4/4

13/15

Martha Warren2

2/2

-

-

2/2

-

2/3

6/7

John Watson

13/13

5/5

6/6

3/3

-

3/3

30/30

Donald Young

13/13

5/5

6/6

-

-

-

24/24

1Appointed to Board April 1, 2010

2 Retired March 31, 2010

Director Attendance
Board and Board Committee meetings are set two years in
advance to optimize director attendance. Members of the Senior
Executive are invited to attend all Board meetings and may also
attend the various Committee meetings. Non attendance at Board
and Board Committee meetings is expected to be rare and will
generally result where an unexpected commitment arises or, for
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newly appointed Directors, there is a conflict with a previous
commitment and a Board or Committee date.
New Board and Committee appointments are effective on April 1
each year. The following table illustrates the number of meetings
each Director attended as compared to the number of meetings
the particular Director was eligible to attend during the 12 months
ended December 31, 2010.
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Directors’ Compensation
The Governance and Human Resources Committee is responsible
for making recommendations to the Board respecting director
compensation. In 2009, the Committee retained Watson Advisors
Inc. to conduct a survey of director compensation in comparable
organizations and to make recommendations respecting
appropriate remuneration for BCSA directors.
Based on the Committee’s recommendations, the Board established
the following compensation philosophy to guide their deliberations
on appropriate director compensation:
That director compensation be set at such a level so as to:
• affirm the directors’ responsibilities and the professional
		 nature of the work that directors are expected to perform;
• attract and retain qualified individuals to serve as directors;
• partially compensate directors for their time and lost
		 opportunity costs and be seen as “value received” for
		 value given;
• recognize the different levels of time and responsibility
		 associated with the Board Chair, Committee Chair and 		
		 director positions; and
• recognize an element of public service.
Effective April 1, 2010 adjustments to BCSA director
compensation were made as follows:
1. Annual retainer for Board Chair increased from $32,500
		 to $40,000
2. Annual retainer for Committee Chairs increased from 		
		 $13,000 to $17,000
3. Annual retainer for directors increased from $8,000
		 to $12,000
4. Meeting fees increased from $600 per meeting to
		 $750 per meeting

					

In considering the appropriate level of compensation for BCSA
directors in the context of the compensation philosophy, the Board
took into account the following factors:
• The BCSA is a complex organization, given the breadth
		 of technologies and the lines of business in relation to
		 each technology.
• The BCSA is strategically important to the Province of BC,
		 both in terms of confidence in the Province’s infrastructure 		
		 and personal safety.
• The BCSA board requires knowledge of specific technical
		 skills, as well as strategic level thinking and an understanding
		 of risk management.
• The directors have a fiduciary responsibility to the organization
		 and the board has full responsibility to supervise management
		 of the organization.
• There is a high demand for skilled board members with
		 governance experience.
• Director compensation in general had increased over the last
		 two years since the last director compensation review.
• The director compensation in effect at the start of the review
		 fell at the low end of the comparables.
• The BCSA does not operate within a competitive environment.
•
		
		
		

While serving in a public sector context involves an accepted
element of public service, it also means that directors are 		
subject to the same high expectations placed on public
servants and politicians.

In addition to the above, special consideration was given to
compensation for the Board Chair, given that the position requires
considerably greater time and effort than the other directors. The
Board Chair is required to provide leadership to the Board which
includes managing the work of the Board and overseeing the work
of the committees. In addition, the Board Chair acts as a liaison
between the Board and management and a sounding board for the
Chief Executive Officer. Similar considerations apply to Committee
Chairs. The Board Chair and Committee Chair compensation
reflects the greater time requirement.
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Directors’ Retainer and Meeting Fees for 2010
The following table reflects the total retainers and
meeting fees that were paid to directors in 2010.
Directors

Retainer

Meeting Fee

Total Retainer/Fees

$14,750

$20,875

$35,625

9,000

12,000

21,000

Peter Cook (Board Chair)

38,125

28,600

66,725

Brian Fehr

Richard Ballantyne (Task Force Chair)
Hoss

Budde1

11,000

18,175

29,175

Fletcher 2

3,250

2,800

6,050

Lornie 1

9,000

12,000

21,000

16,000

13,650

29,650

3,250

1,800

5,050

Dan Mott

11,000

11,550

22,550

Janet Pau

11,000

18,400

29,400

Lorna Pawluk (Committee Chair)

14,750

16,875

31,625

2,000

3,000

5,000

9,000

12,000

21,000

2,000

3,600

5,600

John Watson

11,000

22,525

33,525

Donald Young (Committee Chair)

14,750

18,675

33,425

$179,875

$216,525

$396,400

Tom

Steve

Dan Miller (Committee Chair)
George

Lorne

Morfitt 2

Seitz2

Leigh Ann

Shoji-Lee1

Martha Warren 2

Totals:
1 Appointed April 1, 2010
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2 Retired March 31, 2010
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Summary Executive Compensation Table for 2010
Name and
Principal Position

Salary

Incentive Plan
Compensation Paid

Pension

All Other
Compensation Paid

Total

Previous 2 Years
Totals

Diemer, Harry
President and CEO

$237,618.37

$75,854.98

$23,719.12

$13,225.72

$350,418.19

2008=$318,433.49
2009=$335,757.61

Roome, Catherine
Chief Operating Officer

$182,205.10

$45,501.20

$18,022.60

$10,429.37

$256,158.27

2008=$232,889.98
2009=$247,564.65

Fedyna, Trevor
VP Corporate Services & CFO

$157,693.66

$33,394.30

$15,503.00

$ 9,769.20

$216,360.16

2008=$198,376.33
2009=$211,023.11

Gothe, Phil
VP Stakeholder Engagement

$146,918.99

$27,661.55

$14,395.33

$ 8,400.00

$197,375.87

2008=
N/A
2009=$156,850.96

Sullivan, Diane
VP Human Resources

$131,017.78

$27,343.51

$13,200.85

$ 9,130.20

$180,692.34

2008=$170,250.48
2009=$173,069.91

Milne, Shelley
Corp Sec. & General Counsel

$120,541.40*

$25,512.65

$11,683.70

$ 8,645.20

$166,382.95

2008=$143,252.34
2009=$158,170.61

*Based on a 4 day work week

Executive Compensation
The BCSA is a progressive employer and a leader in the field of
safety. To attract and retain high calibre employees, compensation
levels should be competitive and fair. Therefore, the BCSA offers a
total compensation program that is internally equitable, competitive
in the external market and recognizes exceptional performance.
To ensure that positions are remunerated equitably, the BCSA
worked with an expert in job evaluation to establish base salary
ranges within a comparable ratio range of 80 to 120 percent
around the median. Given BCSA’s unique position between the
public and private sector business models, BCSA has adopted
a blended market compensation position that is midway between
the public sector markets and private business models.

					

Annual incentive awards are determined on a discretionary basis
based on the achievement of strategic objectives and targets that
are established annually by the Board of Directors. The results are
strictly and rigorously correlated with performance (corporate and
individual) and therefore may vary from year to year.
The Governance and Human Resources Committee makes
recommendations to the Board of Directors respecting salary
ranges for senior management and administers the performance
review process for the President and Chief Executive Officer and the
Corporate Secretary annually. The President and Chief Executive
Officer reviews the performance and salary of senior management.
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Board of Directors

Peter Cook / Chair of the Board
Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 2004
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2014
Appointed by: Board
Ex officio, Finance and Audit Committee
Ex officio, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Ex officio, Strategic Advisory Committee
Ex officio, Information Technology Task Force
Peter Cook is an experienced financial services executive and professional economist whose career spans
over 40 years in business and government. For the last decade, Peter has managed both a management
consulting firm and a company that specializes in treasury services for financial institutions. Prior to that
Peter was the President and Chief Executive Officer of Citizens Trust Company and Chief Financial Officer
of VanCity Savings Credit Union.
Peter has served as director of various companies, community associations, foundations, professional
organizations and other Authorities.
Peter is a graduate of the University of Victoria and the University of Western Ontario and completed
the Stanford University Graduate School of Business executive program.
Peter is currently the chair of the board.
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Richard Ballantyne / Director
Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2008
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2014
Appointed by: Board
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee
Chair, Information Technology Task Force
Richard Ballantyne is the President of a consulting practice that focuses on providing business
development and project execution strategy to clients in the energy and marine terminal sectors. Prior
to starting his consulting business, Richard held senior management and executive positions at Terasen
Pipelines, Trans Mountain Pipe Line and BC Gas Utility Limited. Richard previously served as Chair of the
Canadian Energy Pipeline Association. Richard is a member of the Association of Professional Engineers
and Geoscientists of British Columbia, and the Institute of Corporate Directors.

Hoss Budde / Director
Burnaby, BC
Director since: April 1, 2010
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2016
Appointed by: Minister
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Hoss Budde is the owner and President of Burnaby Manufacturing, a company engaged in the
manufacturing of natural gas and propane products. Hoss’ past experience includes being a trustee of
an industry medical plan for five years, member of the Gas advisory Committee for 10 years, member of
the Gas Technology Committee for five years, owner and President of a specialty wholesaler for the
plumbing, heating and gas industries, Editor of the Gas Journal for seven years and owner and
President of a mechanical contracting company for 29 years. Hoss is also a holder of active
Sheet Metal TQ, Class “B” and Class “A” Gasfitters licences.

Brian Fehr / Director
Vanderhoof, BC
Director since: April 1, 2009
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2015
Appointed by: Board
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee
Brian Fehr is the president of the B.I.D. Group of Companies which specializes in providing services to
the forestry sector, including sawmill construction and maintenance. Brian has been involved in the forestry
sector for over 30 years. Brian is the Past Chair of the Board for the BC Association for Crane Safety and
a director on the boards of several other companies and organizations, including Nechako Construction
Ltd. and Baldy Hughes Therapeutic Community.
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Tom Fletcher / Director
Delta, BC
Director since: April 1, 2004
Retired: March 31, 2010
Appointed by: Board
Tom Fletcher is president of a consulting practice focused on management and planning for municipalities
and other government agencies. Services to his clients include leadership and management capacity
building; strategic planning; intergovernmental negotiations; urban planning studies; development
management; policy advice; and regulatory review projects.
Prior to starting his consulting business, Tom served as Chief Administrative Officer for Delta, Director of
Planning for the City of Vancouver, and Commissioner of Planning and Development for the City of Ottawa.
Tom holds a Bachelor of Environmental Studies degree from the University of Waterloo, and an MA from the
University of Alberta.

Steve Lornie / Director
Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2010
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2016
Appointed by: Minister
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Steve Lornie is a partner with Stonecroft Management Ltd., a Vancouver-based construction management
firm. Steve has more than 35 years experience in industrial, institutional, residential and commercial
construction projects. Steve started in the carpentry trade, eventually owning and managing Fairmile
Construction. Steve built Fairmile into a successful $30-million per year business, which he later sold.
Steve is the current vice-chair and a member of the Independent Contractors and Businesses Association.

Arthur Daniel Miller / Director
Victoria, BC
Director since: April 2008
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2014
Appointed by: Board
Chair, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Arthur Daniel Miller brings over 35 years of experience in the private and public sectors. Dan has worked
as an industrial millwright. In the public sector, and has held various senior positions with the Province of
British Columbia including Premier, Deputy Premier, Minister of Energy, Mines and Petroleum Resources;
Minister of Skills, Training and Labour; and Minister of Forests.
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George Morfitt / Director
Victoria, BC
Director since: April 1, 2004
Retired: March 31, 2010
Appointed by: Minister
George Morfitt is a graduate of the University of British Columbia and is a Chartered Accountant. After
a 20-year career as Chief Financial Officer of the Diamond Group of Companies in Vancouver, he served
two terms as Auditor General of British Columbia. Mr. Morfitt has held senior executive positions in a
number of organizations, including: President, BC Institute of Chartered Accountants; Chair, Universities
Council of BC; and Chair, UBC Board of Governors. He is a former municipal alderman and is a past
president of both the Canadian and BC Squash Racquets Associations.
Mr. Morfitt is a Fellow of the BC Institute of Chartered Accountants and a Queen’s Silver and Golden
Jubilee Medalist. He is an inducted member of the BC Sports Hall of Fame and is a director of Pacific Sport
Victoria. Mr. Morfitt is also a director of the Motor Dealer Council of BC and the Victoria Gilbert and Sullivan
Society, and a member of the Health Council of Canada. Mr. Morfitt currently holds an appointment as
adjunct professor at the University of Victoria and is a Principal with the Capacity Development Network.

Daniel Mott / Director
Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2009
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2015
Appointed by: Board
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Dan Mott is an experienced executive in the electrical industry in British Columbia. Dan has significant
experience in project management and business development and is a past Chair of the BC Construction
Industry Training Organization and the Canadian Apprenticeship Forum. Dan is also a past President of the
Electrical Contractors Association of B.C. Dan has 20 years experience on the Negotiating Committee of
the Construction Labour Relations Association.

Janet Pau / Director
Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2008
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2014
Appointed by: Board
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee
Janet Pau has extensive experience as a senior financial executive with Canfor Corporation where she
retired from the position of Vice President and Treasurer in 2004. Janet is a Chartered Financial Analyst
and a graduate of York University. She has held directorships in a variety of industries and non-profit
organizations throughout her career. She is currently serving on several boards including the University
of British Columbia – Board of Governors, Canadian Employment Insurance Financing Board and
Healthcare Benefit Trust. Janet is a member of the Financial Executive Institute, the Institute of
Corporate Directors and the Vancouver Society of Financial Analysts.
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Lorna Pawluk / Director
Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 2006
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2012
Appointed by: Board
Chair, Strategic Advisory Committee
Lorna Pawluk is a lawyer in Vancouver. Her firm focuses on workplace health and safety and WCB related law
for employers. Lorna also serves as Associate Counsel in health and safety matters to Bernard & Partners, a
Vancouver firm focusing on maritime law.
Lorna earned a BC (Hons) Political Science, MA and LLB from the University of Alberta, and an LLM from the
University of British Columbia. Lorna is a member of the Law Society of British Columbia and past member
of the Law Society of Alberta. Lorna holds a certificate in mediation from the Law Society of British Columbia
and is Secretary of the National Administrative Law Section of the Canadian Bar Association. Lorna is also a
member of the CBA Advisory Committee to the Judicial Council of British Columbia.

Lorne Seitz / Director
Courtenay, BC
Director since: April 1, 2004
Retired: March 31, 2010
Appointed by: Minister
Lorne Seitz is a graduate of the University of Saskatchewan with degrees in economics and political science.
Prior to joining the Government of British Columbia in 1988, he was Senior Vice-President, International with
the Canadian Chamber of Commerce. He has served as Deputy Minister of several provincial government
ministries, including International Business and Immigration, Small Business, Tourism and Culture and
Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. He also served as Chief Executive Officer of two crown corporations, BC
Trade Development Corporation and BC Assets and Land Corporation. He is currently Vice Chair of the
Agriculture Land Commission. During his years with the Canadian Chamber of Commerce, Mr. Seitz served
on the Boards of a number of international business organizations. He also was a director of the Okanagan
Valley Tree Fruit Authority and Stothert Power Corp. Mr. Seitz lives in Courtenay.

Leigh Ann Shoji-Lee / Director
Surrey, BC
Director since: April 1, 2010
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2016
Appointed by: Minister
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee
Leigh Ann Shoji-Lee has over 20 years of experience in the energy industry. She has held senior
management and executive positions at BC Hydro and Union Gas and its affiliated companies, including
Westcoast Energy. She has worked extensively in the areas of operations, engineering, environment, health
and safety throughout Ontario and in Vancouver. Leigh Ann is a professional engineer and a graduate of
the University of Toronto. She has previous involvement in various industry and community organizations in
both Ontario and BC.
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Martha Warren / Director
West Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2004
Retired: March 31, 2010
Appointed by: Minister
Martha Warren is a consultant, legal academic and writer. She is a Lecturer at the University of British
Columbia Faculty of Law, and a Panel Member of the Employment Assistance Appeal Tribunal of British
Columbia. Over the past decade, Martha has worked at universities in the UK and Europe, and published
extensively in legal journals and periodicals both in Europe and North America. She wrote one of the leading
books for lawyers in Europe on personal injury practice and procedure. Martha holds a BA from the University
of Western Ontario, an LLB (Hons) and LLM from the University of East Anglia, and a Diploma in Comparative
Law from the Faculte de Droit Compare in Strasbourg.

John Watson / Director
Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 2006
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2012
Appointed by: Board
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Member, Information Technology Task Force
John Watson is a Professional Engineer and a Chartered Arbitrator with over 35 years of experience in
managing the design and construction of major industrial projects in Canada and abroad. John has served
as President of the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia, and of the
Consulting Engineers of British Columbia.
A founding director of the Vancouver International Airport Authority, John has chaired numerous community
citizens’ building committees and has served in a number of other volunteer positions.

Donald Young / Director
West Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2009
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2015
Appointed by: Board
Chair, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Information Technology Taskforce
Donald Young is a chartered accountant and was a senior audit partner with the accounting firm of KPMG
LLP until his retirement. Don has provided financial and planning advice to business as a consultant and
is a Fellow and a past president of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia. Don is a
member of the board of directors, Audit Committee, and Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
of Dundee Precious Metals Inc. and a board member, Audit Committee Chair and member of the Corporate
Governance Committee of Kimber Resources Inc. Don has served on the boards of directors of other publicly
listed and not-for-profit organizations and is a member of the Institute of Corporate Directors.
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Officers

Harry Diemer
President and Chief Executive Officer
Harry is the founding President and Chief Executive Officer of the BC Safety Authority. He began his career
as an urban corporate planner before being named in 1990 as the Executive Director of Safety Engineering
Services of the BC government. In that role, he oversaw the redesign and rewriting of technical public
safety legislation in the province, and led the process of establishing the BC Safety Authority in 2004.
Harry holds a Master’s in Urban Geography and a Bachelor of Science from the University of Alberta.

Trevor Fedyna
Vice President, Corporate Services and Chief Financial Officer
Trevor joined the BC Safety Authority in 2004 as Vice President Corporate Services and Chief Financial
Officer. Prior to taking on this position, he was CFO in both private and public sector organizations
including the False Creek Surgical Centre and the Banff Mineral Springs Hospital. Trevor holds the
CGA professional designation and is a member of Financial Executives International.

Phil Gothe
Vice President, Stakeholder Engagement
Phil Gothe joined the BC Safety Authority as Vice President, Stakeholder Engagement. Specializing in
business development and continuous improvement, he has been consultant to numerous businesses
in the forest, aviation, and heavy equipment industries. Phil began his career in naval operations with the
Department of National Defence. He is a graduate of the Royal Military College and received his MBA
from the Richard Ivey School of Business.
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Shelley Milne
Corporate Secretary and Vice President Legal and Policy
Shelley joined the BC Safety Authority in 2004 as Corporate Secretary and General Counsel. Prior to taking
on this position, she worked for many years at ICBC in several positions, most recently as Vice President,
Corporate Law and Corporate Secretary. Shelley also worked in Hong Kong as a lawyer for three years
with both Jardine Matheson Limited and American Express. She graduated from Dalhousie University
with a Bachelor of Arts and LLB, and was called to the BC bar in 1980.

Catherine Roome
Chief Operating Officer & CEO Designate
Catherine joined the BC Safety Authority in 2005 as Vice President Engineering and appointed Chief
Operating Officer in 2007. A professional engineer, Catherine received her Bachelor of Engineering from the
University of Victoria. In 2008, Catherine received Business in Vancouver Magazine’s “Influential Women
in Business” award. In 2010, Catherine received the Distinguished Alumni Award in Engineering from the
University of Victoria.

Diane Sullivan
Vice President, Human Resources
Diane joined the BC Safety Authority in 2005 as the Strategic Leader of Human Resources and joined the
Executive team in 2007. Previously, Diane worked for SuperPages in Human Resources and Organizational
Development. She also worked for the Royal Bank of Canada for many years in Sales Management.
Diane holds the Certified Human Resources Professional designation and is a member of the BC Human
Resources Management Association. In 2010, she received the prestigious Award of Excellence – HR
Professional of the Year”. Diane holds a Master of Business Administration from Simon Fraser University.
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Management’s
Discussion and Analysis

This report discusses the financial and operating results for the
British Columbia Safety Authority (BCSA) for the year ended
December 31, 2010, and should be read in conjunction with
the audited financial statements. This summary provides additional
information on key elements of the Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements.
Results
As anticipated in our budget, the BCSA experienced a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2010 totaling $506,000, slightly better than
our budgeted loss of $696,000. We budgeted for a deficit in 2010 in order to keep fees frozen and maintain safety services; instead funding the
deficit through unrestricted assets. Total revenues were $39.8 million, decreasing by $125,000 over 2009 results; while expenses increased
by 8% to $40.3 million due to increases in salaries and benefits, general operating, and communications and information expenses.

2010

2009

$ 39,810,000

$ 39,936,000

(40,316,000)

(37,345,000)

TABLE 1/
Revenue
Expenses
Deficiency of revenue over expenditures

$

(506,000)

$

2,591,000

During the first half of the year we experienced modest revenue growth, however this began to slow in the summer months and by late fall,
it became clear that we should expect the road to recovery to be bumpy. These fluctuations are primarily due to the decreasing trend in
housing starts and broader economic conditions during 2010 which primarily affected the revenue from installation permits. In particular, we
saw a drop in commercial and multi-unit dwelling permits, which resulted in lower than expected revenues in the last two months of the year.
Over the course of the year we saw an overall decrease in revenues in specific regions including the Lower Mainland North, Southern Interior
and Central Interior, resulting primarily from a decline in commercial installation permit activity. New installation permit revenue in the electrical
technology experienced the greatest decline; this trend also occurred to a lesser degree in boiler and elevating devices technologies in the
Lower Mainland North region. Revenue declines mentioned above were offset by gains in the Georgia Strait and Vancouver Island North
regions, primarily as a result of increased new installation permits in the electrical technology as residential projects in these areas have
a tendency to favour electrical appliances over gas. Lower Mainland South showed a decline in revenues due to decreased gas installation
permit revenue.
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Graph 1/ Revenue by Region 2009-2010
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In comparison to 2009, year-end overall transaction volumes slightly decreased by 0.6% resulting in services and related fees revenue of
$39.0 million, 1.4% behind budget and $0.1 million below 2009 revenue. We were close to budget expectations in the area of residential
installation permit revenue however fell short of budget in commercial installation permit revenue by 10.2%.
Operating costs were under budget at approximately $40.3 million, primarily due to lower than budgeted salaries and benefits costs as a
result of delays in hiring as several vacant positions took longer than forecasted to fill.

Total Revenue
BCSA is a self-funded corporation and does not receive base funding from the Province. Revenue generated through permitting activities
goes back into improving the safety system in British Columbia. During the year ended 2010 the BCSA kept fees frozen, continuing a trend
started for some technologies in 2007.
The health of the construction industry is a key indicator of BCSA’s performance as installation permits are affected by housing starts,
renovation activities and commercial construction activities. In 2010 approximately 57% of revenues were derived from installation permits.
As in 2009, economic conditions during 2010 had a significant impact on the construction industry. We experienced similar installation
permit activity; however lower average permit values than the prior year resulting in slightly softer revenues. Overall, in 2010 BCSA’s total
revenue reached $39.8 million which was substantially the same as the prior year. The graph below shows that while BCSA’s overall revenue
declined marginally from 2009, revenues are still similar to past years.

Graph 2/ Total Revenue 2006-2010
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In 2010, revenue did not meet budgeted expectations. The main factors in this shortfall are an unexpectedly slow recovery in commercial
construction and a decline in multi-family buildings, which led to declines in installation revenues in elevating, gas and boilers. These declines
were partially offset by an increase in electrical revenue.
BCSA’s revenue is comprised of services and related fees, amortization of deferred contributions, monetary penalties, investment income
and interest. Services and related fees represent approximately 98% of revenue, monetary penalties investment income and interest 1.6%
and amortization of deferred contributions and monetary penalties making up the remainder.

Graph 3/ Total Revenue

Services and
Related Fees
97.97%
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Revenue and demand for our services were stronger than 2009 in the first half of the year, as most general economic indicators that
correlate to BCSA revenues were stronger than economists predicted. Housing starts were particularly strong in the first quarter, resulting
in higher residential permit revenues for BCSA. First quarter strength was also due to additional permit revenue from 2010 Olympic Games
related projects being completed, homeowners accessing the Home Renovation Tax Credit and some projects being pulled forward to avoid
the HST. In the second quarter, we continued to see some growth, albeit lighter than the first quarter. In the third quarter, however, we began
to see a definite cooling of investment in residential construction and lower residential installation permits. This trend continued into the
fourth quarter, where there was a stronger than anticipated drop-off in installation permit activity. The graph below shows the percentage
change in revenue by quarter over 2009 results.

Graph 4/ % Change in Revenue Over 2009
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Revenue and Volume by Technology 1
Services and related fees revenue within BCSA is derived from seven different technology streams; electrical, gas, elevating devices, boilers
and pressure vessels, passenger ropeways, railways and amusement devices.

Graph 5/ 2010 Services & Related Fee Revenue by Technology

Electrical 43.4%

Amusement Rides 0.3%
Railway 1.1%
Passenger Ropeway 1.3%
Elevating Devices 15.0%

Boilers, Pressure Vessels &
Refrigeration 19.9%
Gas 19.2%

1Numbers are as billed and do not reflect the impact of deferral, therefore
amounts do not align exactly with the Financial Statements. Numbers have
been rounded to the nearest $1,000.

The graph below compares operating and installation permit revenues for 2010 with 2009 by each significantly impacted technology. The
majority of our revenues are derived from electrical installation permit revenue, and to a lesser extent gas installation permit revenue. During
2010 we experienced an increase in electrical installation revenues that was offset by a decrease in gas installation revenues, attributable
primarily to residential construction activity in regions which have historically favoured electrical appliances over gas. Operating permit
revenue increased over 2009 for boilers, elevating, and electrical, whereas gas operating permit revenues remained static.

Graph 6/ Operating and Installation Permit Revenue 2009-2010
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Electrical Technology
The electrical technology is the largest source of revenue within BCSA, accounting for 43.4% ($16,800,000) of services and related fees
revenue compared to 41.6% ($16,274,000) in 2009. Revenue from electrical technology increased slightly from 2009 due to increased
permitting volume.
Overall, new installation permit volumes have increased by 5.4% and revenue is up by 3.1% to $15,027,000 mostly due to new residential
construction. The average price of a new electrical installation permit has decreased to $199 in 2010 from $204 in 2009, a drop of 2.5%;
indicating that jobs are smaller and/or being completed at lower cost.
An analysis of the types of installation permits taken by contractors reveals that commercial permit revenue is down by 3.1%, and residential
permit revenue is up 8.7% compared to 2009.
Operating Permit revenue, a small component of electrical revenue, increased by 7.9% to $845,000. In 2009 BCSA clarified when an
operating permit was required; which subsequently increased permitting activity.
Participation in licensing and certification decreased in 2010. Examination volumes decreased by 9.2% and revenue by 9.8% to $160,000
as there were no changes in code that would require examination in 2010. Another contributing factor to the decrease was the decline in
work volume in the industry, which translated to less demand for additional field safety representatives. Contractor license volume experienced
almost no change over the prior year, decreasing by 0.8%, while contractor license revenue increased slightly by 3.3% to $694,000.
Boilers, Pressure Vessels and Refrigeration Technology
The boiler and pressure vessel technology revenues represent the second largest revenue stream and remained relatively consistent with
the prior year, accounting for 19.9% ($7,692,000) of services and related fees revenue in 2010, compared to 19.3% ($7,520,000) in 2009.
The marginal revenue increase of 2.3% ($172,000) was due to an overall 3.2% increase in permit volume. 2010 saw gains in operating permit
volume, which increased by 4.7% ($213,000); resulting primarily from growth in the Northern Interior and Vancouver Island North regions,
which had experienced modest increases in construction in 2009.
New installation permits decreased in relation to the prior year, contributing 6.7% ($517,000) to total revenue, as compared to 7.9%
($601,000) in 2009. This decrease is primarily due to a decline in activity in the latter half of the year, as many commercial installation
projects were pushed out into 2011.
Revenue from the certification of workers increased marginally, by 3.4% to $145,000, as compared to $140,000 in the prior year.
Gas Technology
The gas technology is BCSA’s third largest revenue stream, accounting for 19.2% ($7,437,000) of services and related fees revenue nearly
equal to 21% ($8,175,000) in 2009. In 2010 overall gas revenue decreased by 9.0% ($737,000) and permit volumes declined by 2.2%. In 2009
BCSA collaborated with Terasen Gas to convert the Resort Municipality of Whistler from propane to natural gas which resulted in a one-time
increase in installation permit revenue in that year; if we remove the effect of this project, gas revenues are down by only 2.6% in 2010.
In 2010, new installation permit revenue decreased 13.4% to $5,506,000; normalizing 2009 revenue for the Whistler project, new installation
permit revenue only decreased by 5.6%, or $327,000. The biggest declines in residential gas installations were in the Northern Interior,
Southern Interior and Central Interior regions. These are areas where there is a greater reliance on Gas in residential construction; most of the
growth we saw in residential construction was in the Lower Mainland South and Mid Vancouver Island regions, where electrical appliances
are more frequently chosen over Gas. Operating permit revenue marginally decreased 1.6% to $342,000 as there was a continued decline
in the amount of distribution equipment operating in the province largely due to economic conditions.
Gas fitters are required to renew their Certificate of Qualifications every three years. 2008 was a peak year in this cycle, resulting in an
expected decline in certification volume during 2009. The 2010 certification volume increase of 31.1% to $366,000 was consistent
with budgeted amounts. Examination revenue decreased slightly, by 2.7% to $322,000; consistent with declines experienced by
other technologies.
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Elevating Devices Technology
The elevating devices technology accounted for 15.0% ($5,832,000) of services and related fees revenue compared to 15.4% ($6,017,000)
in 2009. This represents a revenue decrease of 3.1% ($186,000), which contrasts with a 1.9% increase in permit volume.
Installation permit revenue decreased 28.6% to $933,000, continuing a trend from 2009 as some construction projects were put on hold and
elevator installation permits were not required. In 2010, escalator and personal lift new installation activity was down, attributable to lower
growth in commercial and multi-unit residential construction.
Operating permit revenues were on budget as we saw an increase of 4.8% to $4,279,000 primarily due to the increase in elevating devices
in operation as a result of the construction boom experienced in BC in the four years leading up to 2009.
Examination volumes and revenue decreased slightly to $38,000 from $42,000 in 2009. Design registration revenue increased by 20.5% to
$425,000, which is expected to result in new installation permit and inspection revenue growth in future periods.
Railways Technology
The railways technology represented 1.1% ($437,000) of services and related fees revenue in 2010 compared to 1.4% ($532,000) in 2009.
This represents a decrease of 17.9% ($95,000) in revenue and 0% in volume.
Revenue was down due to one-time revenue received in 2009 from construction of the Canada Line. Normalizing for the Canada Line, total
railways revenue was in line with expectations.
Passenger Ropeways Technology
The passenger ropeways technology represented 1.0% ($379,000) of services and related fees revenue in 2010 compared to 1.0%
($396,000) in 2009.
During 2007 and 2008, the BCSA was involved with large projects such as the Peak to Peak Gondola at Whistler. There were no similar
installation projects in 2009 or 2010, thus the decrease in revenue. Because of the high cost of ropeway installations, installation permits
are subject to peaks and troughs more so than other technologies. Operating permit volumes and revenue varied little as installations of
ropeways were often replacements of existing permitted lifts.
Amusement Devices Technology
The amusement devices technology represented 0.03% ($106,000) of the services and related fees revenue in 2010 which was essentially
the same as in 2009.

Other Revenue
Amortization of Deferred Contributions
Amortization of deferred contributions includes payments received from the Province of BC for joint projects, the settlement of liabilities and
the contribution of assets under the creation of BCSA. Amortization of deferred contributions is recorded as revenue on the same basis
that the underlying asset is recognized as an expense. This area decreased in 2010, as the majority of assets were received in April 2004
and were fully amortized by 2010.
Interest
Revenue from interest was consistent with 2009, fluctuating by just 0.01%. Interest income amounted to $389,000, 28.8% below budget as
interest rates remained at historically lows during the year.
Gain on Sale of Investments
During December of 2010 we changed investment managers from the British Columbia Investment Management Corporation (“BCIMC”) to
Beutel Goodman & Co. We reviewed our investment goals of concentrating on capital preservation through low risk investment in money
market and fixed income funds, and felt that Beutel Goodman & Co would be better aligned with our investment policy and reporting
requirements. Transition from BCIMC to Beutel Goodman & Co required liquidation of our investments at BCIMC, resulting in a realized
gain of $272,000.

48				

British Columbia Safety Authority | 2010 Annual Report | Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Monetary Penalty Revenue
In an effort to continue the implementation of our operational model and focus on areas of high risk, BCSA levied monetary penalty enforcement
actions on several contractors and equipment operators and others. Monetary Penalty Revenue amounted to $138,000 in 2010; further
information is available in our State of Safety report.

Expenses
In response to the poor economic conditions, BCSA contained operating expenses in 2010 without affecting its safety activities. For the fifth
year in a row our annual expenses did not exceed the budgeted target.
Total expenses in 2010 were $40,316,000, which represents an increase of $2,971,000 over 2009, and is 1.2% below budget. Overall, the
increase in expenses is substantially attributable to research and consulting fees for the Alternative Safety Approaches (“ASA”) program, and
costs associated with the replacement of our main software system.
The graphic below shows the breakdown of BCSA’s expenses in 2010. The vast majority of costs incurred are salaries and benefits.

Graph 7/ 2010 Expenses by Type
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Several costs changed in 2010 as compared to 2009. The graph below shows a high level comparison of expenses by key category.
Significant changes are discussed below.

Graph 8/ Expense Comparison 2009-2010
Salaries & Benefits
General Operating & Administration
Amortization of Property, Equipment & Intangibles

2010
2009

Building Occupancy
Communications & Information Services
Transportantion
Corporate Governance

$5,000,000

$10,000,000

$15,000,000

$20,000,000

$25,000,000

$30,000,000

Salaries and Benefits
Salaries and benefits increased $1.22 million (5.0%) to $25,599,000, which was due to collective agreement requirements and in part to
moving unionized employees’ salaries into market ranges. The increase was also due to the addition of a few new necessary staff positions
such as three educational positions pursuant to our continued focus on education, and three IT positions in preparation for computer system
changes anticipated in 2011. We also incurred a full year of salaries and benefits expenses for positions recruited part way through 2009.
Salaries and benefits were under budget by $1.57 million (5.8%) for the year ended as a result of delays in hiring.

General Operating and Administration
General operating and administration increased by $305,000 (7.6%) to $4,304,000. On June 3, 2010, the Province passed changes to the
Safety Standards Act to introduce Alternative Safety Approaches, or ASAs. An ASA is an optional approach that allows a proponent to comply
with the Safety Standards Act while using a Safety Management Plan or an Equivalent Standards Agreement instead of the current, prescriptive
system using general and technology-specific regulations. To be able to offer this service in 2011, BCSA incurred costs in program
development and industry consultation, which contributed to the increase in general operation and administration expenses over 2009.

Communications and Information Services
Communications and information services expense increased $956.000 (42.6%) to $3,202,000. During the year we incurred significant
costs in relation to our new software system, including costs related to conducting a needs assessment, developing system strategy and
conducting a public tender. Implementation of the system is planned for 2011 and 2012.

Transportation
In 2010 transportation expenses increased by $247,000 (15.6%) to $1,832,000. During the year ended 2009 we curtailed transportation
costs due to a decrease in activity. In 2010 we maintained the efficiencies realized in 2009 and in 2010 saw the need to engage our safety
counterparts in other jurisdictions, engage stakeholders in discussions regarding innovative longer term regulatory methods and engage
staff on a variety of issues.
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Corporate Governance
Corporate governance costs increased by $147,000 (37.1%) to $544,140, largely the result of an increase in Board of Director’s individual
compensation, additional meetings and the creation of an IT Task Force Committee of the Board, all which is fully disclosed in the Corporate
Governance section of the annual report.

Capital
During 2010, BCSA purchased $2.077 million of capital equipment. Capital expenditure related primarily to maintenance of our vehicle
fleets for our safety officers, maintenance of computer systems, tenant improvements, furniture and fixtures and major safety program
development costs.
2010 capital investment was significantly less than 2009 investment of $5.29 million. In the prior year we incurred significant costs for
tenant improvements and furniture and fixtures as a result of the relocation of three of our largest offices, and building our fleet of vehicles
for safety officers.

Reserves and Unrestricted Assets
BCSA has operating, capital, education and unrestricted reserves, all of which contribute to our liquidity. The operating reserve was
created in 2004 to be used to fund up to three months (25%) of the annual operating budget to ensure the sustainability of BCSA
through unforeseen economic shocks. In 2010 BCSA added $755,000 to maintain this reserve. The capital reserve was established
in 2007 to fund long-term capital investment projects such as the modernization of facilities and information technology systems. There
were no changes to this reserve between 2009 and 2010. The education reserve was established in 2010 in accordance with the Safety
Standards Act to reserve monetary penalties collected by the BCSA to be expended on accident prevention programs and safety
education. To the end of 2010 there has been $60,000 collected in monetary penalty funds and no monies expended. Unrestricted
assets are assets that do not meet any of the above definitions. In 2010 BCSA decreased unrestricted assets as we budgeted for a
deficit to keep fees frozen and maintain safety services.

TABLE 2/
Investment in Property and Equipment and Intangibles
Operating Reserve – Internally Restricted
Capital Reserve – Internally Restricted
Education Reserve - Externally Restricted
Unrestricted
Total Net Assets

2010

2009

$ 7,733,000

$ 8,096,000

10,079,000

9,324,000

6,000,000

6,000,000

60,000

-

1,008,000

2,167,000

$ 24,880,000

$ 25,587,000

We anticipate that the majority of the capital reserve will be used during 2011. The largest capital expenditure planned in 2011 is the second
year of a three-year project to replace our software system. With the modernization of this system, we expect to increase the breadth and
depth of our client self-service capabilities and take a data-driven approach to our safety strategies. The remaining capital expenditures are
to maintain our fleet vehicles and offices to a professional and safe standard.
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Risk and Uncertainty
BCSA is susceptible to risks that, if unmitigated, could lead to significant financial and operational consequences.
BCSA’s Risk Management Department maintains an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework and reports regularly to the Strategic
Advisory Committee of the Board of Directors. The ERM framework has established a consistent approach to risk identification,
quantification & control. These processes attempt to mitigate the impact risks may have on the organization. The internal audit department,
which reports regularly to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, carries out operational and control audits to test for compliance
and identify areas of risk that require attention.
BCSA is continually improving its risk management system and processes. Managing complex risk systems and identifying technical areas
in need of attention requires a significant level of competency and capacity. As we proceed into 2011 and beyond we will continue to
strengthen and further refine our risk management system and processes.
BCSA’s overall risk management program focuses on the following key risks:
Revenue Risk
Economic fluctuations have a significant impact on new installation permitting activity. BCSA earns its revenue through permitting activities.
In an economic decline, developers often substitute larger projects for smaller ones resulting in lower permitting revenues. While permitting
activity may remain relatively unchanged, the average revenue per permit may decrease. BCSA mitigates the impact of lost revenue due to
a reduction in permitting activities through cost reduction measures and the use of unrestricted assets and a reserve fund.
Investment Risk
In 2010 BCSA reviewed its investment policy to ensure it meets BCSA’s risk appetite and diversification requirements. This resulted in a
change of the Investment Management company to Buetel Goodman & Co. BCSA earns interest income from investments which include
short-term bond funds and money market funds. Fluctuations in interest rates could sub-optimize our returns and investment values.
The Board of Directors is responsible for setting BCSA’s investment policy and assigns the oversight and asset allocation decisions to the
Finance and Audit Committee. BCSA’s goal is capital preservation, and its investments are reviewed on a quarterly basis.
Liquidity Risk
Cash flow fluctuations could affect our ability to fund our working capital requirements and achieve our business objectives in a timely
manner. BCSA manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and reserves. Quarterly cash flow projections are prepared and
reviewed quarterly by the Audit Committee to ensure a sufficient continuity of funding. BCSA experiences low risk in this area as funds are
invested in short-term financial instruments and the investments are well managed at Buetel Goodman & Co.
Operational Risk
As a regulator, BCSA is faced with risks associated with the quality of its services and effective administration of the Safety Standards
Act. Continuous training of its employees, risk based resource allocation processes, strong governance practices, and establishment and
auditing of standards policies and procedures are just some of the things that enable the BCSA to deliver quality service.
BCSA relies on accurate data from its internal systems in order to optimize revenue, guide its resource allocations and enhance safety
decisions. In 2010, after completing a business system review and a rigorous due diligence exercise BCSA selected partners and
successfully completed a detailed feasibility study to initiate the replacement of our software system to support our strategic and operational
objectives. The project has been approved & delivery is based upon three phases with stringent oversight and reporting structures.
Human Capital Risk
BCSA is exposed to risks resulting from changing demographics and therefore may not be able to attract or retain the personnel necessary
to achieve our business objectives. The organization is in the process of managing this risk with succession plans and a robust workforce
planning forecast. BCSA’s personnel performance management process ensures that individual performance goals are aligned with BCSA’s
overall strategic goals and objectives. As well the BCSA has developed several programs to attract and retain talent that have made us
one of the Top 100 employers in Canada, one of the Top employers in British Columbia and one of the Top 25 family friendly employers in
Canada. Additionally, BCSA signed a collective agreement with its unionized staff which spans January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2011.
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Accounting Policy Changes
There were no significant changes to accounting policies for the year ended December 31, 2010. Minor changes to accounting policy are
found at Note 3 of the financial statements.
Accounting Policy
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) has released a revised version of its Handbook, which allows Not-For-Profit
Organizations a choice between applying International Financial Reporting Standards or Accounting Standards for Not-For-Profit
Organizations. After reviewing the advantages and disadvantages of each standard, and consultation with accountants, our auditors,
and our counterpart financial leaders, the BCSA has elected to adopt Part III of the CICA Handbook, Accounting Standards for
Not-For-Profit Organizations, effective January 1, 2012. For the BCSA, this new standard will result in some, but not significant, accounting,
presentation and disclosure differences. We are currently in the process of reviewing the detail in the Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit
Organizations and the transition rules in the first year of adoption, and will have a more thorough understanding of the absolute impact on
BCSA upon completion of that review. We are currently developing our detailed implementation plan for migrating to the new standard.

Outlook
Prudent Financial Management for Challenging Times
There are numerous factors, some beyond our control, which could cause results to vary from expectations. Key risks to the budget are
the predicted strength of the provincial economic recovery and the management of the costs of modernizing our software system.
All forward-looking statements within this report should be understood to involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual financial
or operating results to differ significantly.
For 2011, we are anticipating total revenues of $41.5 million, modestly up from our revenues for 2010 of $39.8 million, but still below
construction cycle peak levels.

2010
ACTUAL

2011
BUDGET

$ 39,003,000

$ 41,053,000

10,000

-

797,000

400,000

$ 39,810,000

$ 41,453,000

40,316,000

42,446,000

TABLE 3/ PROJECTED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Revenue
Services and Related Fees
Amortization of Deferred Contributions
Interest and other Income
Total Revenue
Expenditures
Deficiency of Revenue over Expenditures

$

(506,000)

$

(993,000)

Capital Purchases

$

2,077,000

$

7,214,000
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Revenue Modestly Recovering
We anticipate that revenue will have a subdued recovery in 2011, starting slowly in the first half of the year and building in the latter half.
Our assumptions see commercial installation permitting activity growing more strongly than residential permitting activity, where we
anticipate minimal growth. We also anticipate an increase in revenues from operating permits and inspections where revenues are
historically more stable.
Looking further ahead we expect the economic recovery to accelerate moderately in 2012 and 2013. In the coming three-year period, the
construction industry is forecasted to experience an ongoing recovery, continuing a trend from 2010.
For 2011, we are anticipating service and related fees revenue of $41.0 million, modestly up from 2010 revenue of $39.1 million, but still
below 2008 peak levels and below historical growth rates. Our assumptions call for a tepid recovery in the construction industry. We are
also anticipating a projected increase from operating permits and inspections where revenues are historically more stable.
The BCSA has been able to sustain safety services during an uncertain economic climate while continuing to freeze rates since 2007
for some technologies. Fees will remain frozen in 2011 for cost recovering technologies including Electrical, Gas, Elevating Devices and
Boilers, Pressure Vessels and Refrigeration Systems. Looking forward we anticipate needing to engage in discussions with specific
industry groups regarding fee levels. We have announced 2011 fee consultation discussions with Passenger Ropeways, Amusement
Devices and Railways technologies.
Managing Operating Expenses
We make every effort to deliver necessary safety programs as efficiently and cost effectively as possible. We are taking advantage of the
economic slowdown to redesign how we do things and investing in prevention through increased education and enforcement activities.
We are forecasting that our operating expenses will increase to $42.4 million in 2011.
Investing in Infrastructure
For 2011, we have budgeted $7.2 million in capital expenditures, of which $5.1 million relates to the first year of a two year project to
replace our computer system. The remainder is for maintenance of computer hardware, other software, the vehicle fleet and offices.

Conclusion
In 2010 BCSA performed as expected and maintained its financial position. For the fifth year in a row, our focus on disciplined spending
and prudent financial management ensured that our annual expenses did not exceed the budgeted target.
Despite the turbulent economic conditions, BCSA was within 1% of budgeted revenues from activities, and managed to contain expenses
to 1.2% less than budget. This resulted in a net deficit of $506,000; a slight improvement over our budgeted deficit of $696,000.
We are committed to increasing the level of participation in the provincial safety system through a renewed concentration on our enforcement
strategy and by increasing our education and public safety campaigns. In 2011 BCSA will continue to support many important safety
initiatives and invest in the longer-term efficiency and effectiveness of our organization.

Disclosure
Throughout this Management Discussion and Analysis we have presented forward looking information based on assumptions and
numerous factors beyond our control that could cause results to differ from expectations. All forward-looking statements within this report
should be understood to involve risks or uncertainties that could cause actual financial or operating results to differ significantly. BCSA
cautions that readers of the Management Discussion and Analysis should not place reliance on any forward looking information included
in this section.
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Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report
April 19, 2011
To the Board of Directors of
British Columbia Safety Authority
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of British Columbia Safety Authority, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at December 31, 2010 and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and
the related notes including a summary of significant accounting policies.
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of British Columbia Safety Authority as at
December 31, 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
“PricewaterhouseCoopers” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario
limited liability partnership, which is a member firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers
International Limited, each member firm of which is a separate legal entity.
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British Columbia Safety Authority

Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2010

2010

2009

Assets
Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Investments (note 3)

$

6,280,508
1,238,183
610,600
28,621,224

$

7,237,001
1,301,287
584,903
28,251,536

36,750,515

37,374,727

Intangible assets (note 5)

1,096,461

901,705

Property and equipment (note 6)

6,669,190

7,236,934

$

44,516,166

$

45,513,366

$

8,057,605
10,197,013

$

7,969,019
10,484,857

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Payables and accruals
Deferred revenue

18,254,618

18,453,876

Accrued employee future benefits (note 7)

508,047

482,039

Deferred leasehold inducements (note 8)

873,848

979,769

-

9,841

19,636,513

19,925,525

7,733,233

8,096,379

Externally restricted (note 10)

59,900

-

Internally restricted (note 11)

16,079,000

15,324,000

1,007,520

2,167,462

24,879,653

25,587,841

Deferred contributions (note 9)

Net Assets
Investment in property, equipment and intangibles

Unrestricted

$

44,516,166

$

45,513,366

Commitments (note 13)
Contingencies (note 14)
Approved by the
Board of Directors:
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See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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British Columbia Safety Authority

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Investment
in property,
equipment and
intangibles
Net assets - Beginning of year

$ 8,096,379

Externally
restricted
(note 10)

$

For the year ended December 31, 2010

2010

2009

Internally
restricted
(note 11)

Unrestricted

Total

Total

-

$ 15,324,000

$ 2,167,462

$ 25,587,841

$ 23,065,538

(Deficiency) excess of revenue
over expenses

-

-

-

(505,765)

(505,765)

2,590,861

Net change in unrealized gain (loss)
on available-for-sale financial instruments

-

-

-

69,317

69,317

(68,558)

Realized gain on sale of investments
- reclassification to statement of operations
of previously unrealized amounts

-

-

-

(271,740)

(271,740)

-

9,841

-

-

(9,841)

-

-

Amortization of property,
equipment and intangibles

(2,449,878)

-

-

2,449,878

-

-

Investment in property,
equipment and intangibles - net

2,076,891

-

-

(2,076,891)

-

-

Increase in education reserve

-

59,900

-

(59,900)

-

-

Increase in operating reserve

-

-

755,000

(755,000)

-

-

$ 7,733,233

$ 59,900

$ 16,079,000

$ 1,007,520

$ 24,879,653

$ 25,587,841

Amortization of deferred
contributions (note 9)

Net assets - End of year

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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British Columbia Safety Authority

Statement of Operations

Revenue
Services and related fees
Monetary penalties issued
Amortization of deferred contributions
Gain on sale of investments
Interest income

2010

2009

$ 39,002,549
137,500
9,841
271,740
388,936

$ 39,091,741
19,650
432,789
391,517

39,810,566

39,935,697

25,598,562
4,303,533
3,202,484
2,449,878
2,385,308
1,832,426
544,140

24,375,265
3,998,785
2,246,525
2,533,850
2,207,991
1,585,484
396,936

40,316,331

37,344,836

Expenses
Salaries and benefits
General operating and administration
Communications and information services
Amortization of property, equipment and intangibles
Building occupancy
Transportation
Corporate governance

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2010

$

(505,765 )

$

2,590,861

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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British Columbia Safety Authority

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2010

2009

2010
Cash flows provided by (used in)
Operating activities
(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses
Adjustments to determine cash flows
		 Amortization of deferred contributions
		 Amortization of deferred leasehold inducements
		 Amortization of property, equipment and intangibles
		 Gain on sale of investments (note 3)
		 (Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment
		 Increase in accrued employee future benefits
Change in non-cash working capital accounts (note 15)

$

Financing activities
Leasehold inducements
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Investment in intangible assets
Interest on investments re-invested
Proceeds on sale of investments
Purchase of investments

Decrease in cash
Cash - Beginning of year
Cash - End of year

$

(505,765 )

$

2,590,861

(9,841 )
(105,921 )
2,449,878
(271,740 )
(7,288 )
26,008
(161,851 )

(482,789 )
(111,862 )
2,533,850
48,734
44,304
(48,443 )

1,413,480

4,574,655

-

1,059,210

(1,526,053 )
8,126
(551,675 )
(300,371 )
28,620,393
(28,620,393 )

(4,552,939 )
37,686
(732,923 )
(352,043 )
(3,000,000 )

(2,369,973 )

(8,600,219 )

(956,493 )

(2,966,354 )

7,237,001

10,203,355

6,280,508

$

7,237,001

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements
1/ Operations
British Columbia Safety Authority (“BCSA”) is a not-for-profit organization incorporated through the Safety Authority Act. BCSA administers
the service delivery components of the Safety Standards Act delegated to it by the Province of British Columbia. The delegation of authority
is based on an Administrative Agreement between the Province of British Columbia and BCSA. The Administrative Agreement establishes
the rights and responsibilities and terms and conditions of both parties.
BCSA delivers services in British Columbia by partnering with business, industry and the general public to enhance the safety of technical
systems, products, equipment and work. BCSA is responsible for overseeing the safety of amusement rides and recreational railways,
boilers, pressure vessel and refrigeration systems, electrical equipment and systems, elevating devices, gas appliances and systems,
passenger ropeways, and railways.

2/ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.
Use of Estimates
The presentation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the year. In particular, management makes estimates to determine the percentageof completion on revenue and
accrued employee future benefits at the end of the year. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Financial Instruments
All financial instruments are classified into one of five categories: held-for-trading, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables,
available-for-sale financial assets, or other financial liabilities. All financial instruments are measured in the statement of financial position at
fair value except for loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost.
Subsequent measurement and changes in fair value will depend on their initial classification as follows: held-for-trading financial assets are
measured at fair value and changes in fair value are recognized in net earnings; available-for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recorded directly in unrestricted net assets.
Intangible Assets
BCSA customizes third-party software for internal use. Direct costs attributable to new customizations or significant modifications to previous
customizations are capitalized after technological feasibility has been established. Direct costs attributable to minor modifications of previous
customizations are expensed. Costs to support or service internally customized third-party software are expensed in the period incurred.
All software is recorded at cost and amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset (3 to 5 years).
Direct costs attributable to major safety program development are capitalized.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Leases that transfer substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership are capitalized.
Amortization of property and equipment commences when it is brought into service and is provided on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets at the following annual rates:

Computer Hardware
Software Systems Integral to Hardware Operations
Vehicles
Furniture and Equipment
Leasehold Improvements
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3 to 5 years
3 years
5 years
5 years
Term of the Lease
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Investments
Investments with original maturities of less than one year are classified as short-term investments. Investments with maturities beyond one
year may be classified as short term, based on their highly liquid nature and because investments in pooled funds and marketable securities
represent the investment of cash that is available for current operations.
All short-term investments are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded at fair value based on published quoted prices at year-end.
Deferred Contributions
Deferred contributions include payments received from the Province of British Columbia for a joint safety project, the settlement of liabilities
and the contribution of assets under the creation of BCSA. Amortization of deferred contributions is recorded as revenue. The amortization
rate matches the underlying asset to which the contribution relates, and the contribution is amortized on the same basis that the underlying
asset is recognized as expense.
Deferred Leasehold Inducements
Deferred leasehold inducements include amounts received in lease agreements related to leasehold improvements. Amortization of deferred
leasehold inducements is recognized over the length of the lease on a straight-line basis.
Revenue Recognition
Where the fee covers a specific period, revenues are recognized evenly over that period. Where the fee does not cover a specific period and
is earned over a period of time, estimates are used to determine the period over which revenue is recognized, based on past history. In both
cases, unearned fees are recorded as deferred revenue. All other revenues are recorded when services are performed.
For contributions, BCSA follows the deferral method of accounting. Under this method, contributions restricted for future period expenditures
are deferred and are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenditures are incurred.
Employee Benefit Plans
Public Service Pension Plan
BCSA and its employees contribute to the Public Service Pension Plan, a jointly trusteed pension plan. The board of trustees, representing
plan members and employers, is responsible for overseeing the management of the pension plan, including asset investment and plan
administration. The pension plan is a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension plan with over 58,000 active members and 36,000
retired members, as at March 31, 2010.
Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and the adequacy of plan funding. The
latest valuation as at March 31, 2008 indicated a $487 million surplus. The actuary does not attribute portions of the surplus/liability to
individual employers.
The plan is accounted for on the defined contribution basis, as it is not possible to separately identify the assets and liabilities of the pension
plan that relate to BCSA.
Defined Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan
Under the collective agreement and terms of employment, BCSA accrues a provision for a defined supplemental retirement benefit plan as
employees render the services required to earn that benefit.
BCSA accrues the cost of these employee future benefits over the periods in which the employees earn the benefit. The cost of employee
future benefits is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method pro rated on service and includes, but is not limited to, management
estimates of salary increases, the retirement age of employees, and other actuarial factors. The discount rate used is based on market rates
as at the measurement date. Past service costs from plan amendments are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected
remaining service life of the employee group. Actuarial gains (losses) arise from changes in actuarial assumptions used to determine the accrued
benefit obligation. Net actuarial gains or losses that exceed 10% of the accrued benefit obligation are amortized on a straight-line basis over
the expected remaining service life of the employee group.
Every three years an actuarial valuation is performed. The latest valuation was at December 31, 2010.
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Income Taxes
BCSA is exempt from federal and provincial income taxes.

3/ Investments
BCSA changed investment managers during the year. As a result, on the sale of the investments BCSA had to fully recognize the fair market
value over cost of the investment, which had previously been reported as unrealized gains (losses) through net assets. A resulting gain of
$271,740 was recognized in the statement of operations. The proceeds on sale of the investments were transferred to the new investment
manager and investments were purchased for the value of the proceeds. Investments are currently managed by Beutel, Goodman &
Company Ltd. and are held in short-term money market and short-term bond funds.

2010
Cost
Short-term money market fund
Short-term bond fund

2009
Cost

Fair Value

Fair Value

$

8,000,000
20,620,393

$

8,001,792
20,619,432

$

21,738,561
6,493,048

$

21,787,171
6,464,365

$

28,620,393

$

28,621,224

$

28,231,609

$

28,251,536

4/ Financial Instruments
BCSA classifies its financial instruments as follows: (i) cash as held-for-trading (measured at fair value); (ii) accounts receivable as loans
and receivables (measured at amortized cost); (iii) investments as available for sale (measured at fair value); and (iv) payables and accruals
as other liabilities (measured at amortized cost).
The carrying value of accounts receivable and payable approximates fair value as at December 31, 2010 and 2009.
BCSA classifies financial instruments measured at fair value into one of three levels of a fair value hierarchy according to the relative reliability
of the inputs used to estimate the fair values: Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets; Level 2 - measurements determined using valuation
models that employ observable inputs; and Level 3 - measurements determined using valuation models that employ unobservable inputs.
All financial instruments held by BCSA at December 31, 2010 are considered Level 2 (2009 - Level 2).
Financial Instruments Risk, Exposure and Management
BCSA has exposure to the following risks from its financial instruments: credit risk, market risk, interest rate risk, and liquidity risk.
a) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from the failure of a customer to honour its financial obligations. The only financial instrument that
potentially subjects BCSA to concentrations of credit risk is its accounts receivable. Management has a conservative approach in that
provisions for doubtful accounts are made for all accounts over 120 days.
The maximum exposure to credit risk in terms of accounts receivable in 2010 and 2009 was as follows:

2010
Trade
Allowance for doubtful accounts
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2009

$

1,766,661
(528,478)

$

1,902,100
(600,813)

$

1,238,183

$

1,301,287
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The aging of accounts receivable as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 was as follows:

2010

2009

Current
Past due (31 - 60 days)
Past due (61 - 90 days)
Past due (91 - 120 days)
Past due greater than 120 days

$

745,778
236,815
131,843
123,747
528,478

$

752,770
369,632
119,645
59,240
600,813

Total accounts receivable

$

1,766,661

$

1,902,100

b) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Fair
value risk is the potential for loss from an adverse movement in the value of a financial instrument. BCSA is exposed to fair value risk on its
investments held. If bond prices increased or decreased by 10% with all other factors remaining constant, net assets would have increased
or decreased by approximately $2,862,000. BCSA is not, however, significantly exposed to currency risk or other price risk.
c) Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that BCSA’s investments will change in fair value due to future fluctuations in market interest rates. The risk arises
primarily on interest bearing financial instruments held in pooled money market and bond funds.
d) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that BCSA will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. BCSA’s approach to managing liquidity risk
is to ensure that it will have sufficient working capital and cash flow generated from operations to fund the operations and settle debt and
liabilities when due. BCSA also maintains an operating reserve to mitigate this risk (note 11). Contractual obligations and payments related
to financial liabilities as at December 31, 2010 are all expected to be paid by December 31, 2012.

5/ Intangible Assets

Cost
Safety program development costs
Software systems
Systems under development

		

		

2010

2009

Net

Net

Accumulated Amortization

$

90,118
6,661,168
432,021

$

6,086,846
-

$

90,118
574,322
432,021

$

580,695
321,010

$

7,183,307

$

6,086,846

$

1,096,461

$

901,705
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6/ Property and Equipment

Cost
Computer hardware
Software systems integral to
hardware operations
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

$

2010

2009

Net

Net

Accumulated Amortization

2,579,192

$

351,462
3,915,671
1,530,820
4,373,727

1,719,728

$

290,300
2,373,958
547,922
1,149,774

$ 12,750,872

$

6,081,682

$

859,464

$

838,556

61,162
1,541,713
982,898
3,223,953

104,946
2,074,291
1,026,156
3,192,985

6,669,190

$ 7,236,934

7/ Accrued Employee Future Benefits
BCSA accrues a provision for a defined supplemental retirement benefit plan.
a) Changes in the accrued employee future benefits

2010

2009

Accrued benefit obligation
Unamortized net actuarial loss

$

686,455
(178,408)

$

565,957
(83,918)

Accrued employee future benefits

$

508,047

$

482,039

b) Components of supplemental retirement benefit plan expense

2010

2009

Current service cost
Interest cost
Amortization of net actuarial loss
Past service cost

$

31,063
36,583
4,243
-

$

18,178
31,239
58,150

Retirement benefit plan expense

$

71,889

$

107,567

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring BCSA’s accrued benefit obligations are as follows:

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

2010

2009

4.75%
3.20%

6.75%
3.00%

The accrued benefit obligation is not funded as funding is provided when benefits are paid. Accordingly, there are no plan assets.
c) Contributions to the Public Service Pension Plan and the defined supplemental retirement benefit plan expense accrual during the year
were $1,840,112 (2009 - $1,757,980).

64				

British Columbia Safety Authority | 2010 Annual Report | Financial Statements

8/ Deferred Leasehold Inducements
2010
Deferred leasehold Inducements - Beginning of year

$

979,769

Add : Inducements received during the year
Less : Amortization to rent expense
Deferred Leasehold Inducements - End of year

$

2009
$

32,421

-

1,059,210

(105,921)

(111,862)

873,848

$

979,769

9/ Deferred Contributions
2010
Deferred contributions - Beginning of year

$

9,841

Less : Amortization of deferred contributions
			 on property, equipment and intangibles
		 Amortization to retirement allowance
		 Operating expense for a joint safety project

2009
$

(9,841)
-

Deferred contributions - End of year

$

-

492,630

(374,640)
(58,149)
(50,000)
$

9,841

10/ Externally Restricted Net Assets
The education reserve was established in 2010 to reserve monetary penalties collected by BCSA to be expended on accident prevention
programs and safety education in accordance with the Safety Standards Act.

11/ Internally Restricted Net Assets
Funds that are internally restricted include an operating reserve and a capital reserve. Internal restrictions of net assets are reviewed
annually by the Board of Directors.

2010
Operating reserve
Capital reserve

2009

$ 10,079,000
6,000,000

$

$ 16,079,000

$ 15,324,000

9,324,000
6,000,000

Operating Reserve
The operating reserve was created in 2004 to fund up to three months of the annual operating budget to ensure the sustainability of
BCSA through unforeseen economic shocks.
Capital Reserve
The capital reserve was established in 2007 to fund long-term capital investment projects, such as the modernization of facilities and
information technology systems.
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12/ Capital Management
The capital structure of BCSA consists of net assets invested in property and equipment and intangibles, externally and internally restricted
net assets, and unrestricted net assets. The key objectives of BCSA’s capital management are to provide adequate funding to ensure
efficient delivery of service activities and conformance with the Safety Standards Act.
Net assets invested in property and equipment represent the amount of net assets that are not available for other purposes because they
have been invested.
Externally restricted net assets include an education reserve the purposes of which are disclosed in note 10.
Internally restricted net assets include an operating reserve and capital reserve the purposes of which are disclosed in note 11.
Unrestricted net assets are funds available for future operations and are preserved so BCSA can have some financial flexibility should
opportunities arise in the future.

13/ Commitments
Core Software System
BCSA entered into agreements in January 2011 to replace its core software system. Payments for services under the agreements are
required to be made upon successful completion of specific milestones as defined in the agreements. Future payments under the agreements,
which include the amount of US$3,187,290 (CA$3,170,079) to be paid in US currency, are currently estimated as shown below. These
estimates are based on the assumption that work will be performed in accordance with the timelines in the agreements, which could vary.

2011
2012

$

2,908,138
2,645,398

$

5,553,536

Building Occupancy
BCSA leases office space and equipment with future minimum annual payments over the next five years, estimated as follows:

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

$

2,372,589
2,251,232
2,097,811
2,264,772
1,913,588

$ 10,899,992
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14/ Contingencies
In the ordinary course of operations, BCSA may be contingently liable for litigation and claims with customers, suppliers and employees.
Specific claims have been brought against BCSA, the outcome of which is indeterminable at this time. Liabilities on any litigation are
recognized in the financial statements when the outcome becomes reasonably determinable. In management’s judgment, no material
exposure exists at this time on the eventual settlement of any existing litigation; accordingly, no liabilities have been recognizedy in the
financial statements at December 31, 2010 (2009 - $nil).

15/ Change in Non-Cash Working Capital Accounts
2010
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Payables and accruals
Deferred revenue

2009

$

63,103
(25,697)
88,586
(287,843)

$

(40,416)
(309,349)
147,343
153,979

$

(161,851)

$

(48,443)

16/ Comparative Figures
Comparative figures have been reclassified where necessary to be consistent with the presentation adopted in the current year.
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Committees

Board of Directors

Committees

Peter Cook / Chair
Richard Ballantyne
Hoss Budde
Brian Fehr
Tom Fletcher*
George Morfitt*
Steve Lornie
Arthur Daniel Miller
Daniel Mott
Janet Pau
Lorna Pawluk
Lorne Seitz*
Leigh Ann Shoji-Lee
Martha Warren*
John Watson
Donald Young

Committees of the Board

Officers
Harry Diemer
Trevor Fedyna
Phil Gothe
Shelley Milne
Catherine Roome
Diane Sullivan

Finance and Audit
Committee Members:
Donald Young / Chair
Richard Ballantyne
George Morfitt*
Janet Pau
Lorne Seitz*
John Watson
Steve Lornie
Peter Cook, Ex officio
Harry Diemer, Ex officio
Governance and Human
Resources Committee Members:
Dan Miller / Chair
Brian Fehr
Dan Mott
Lorne Seitz*
John Watson
Hoss Budde
Peter Cook, Ex officio
Harry Diemer, Ex officio

Strategic Advisory Committee Members:
Lorna Pawluk / Chair
Richard Ballantyne
Brian Fehr
Tom Fletcher*
Janet Pau
Leigh Ann Shoji-Lee
Martha Warren*
Peter Cook, Ex officio
Harry Diemer, Ex officio
IT Task Force Committee Members:
Richard Ballantyne / Chair
John Watson
Donald Young
Peter Cook, Ex officio
2010 Stakeholder Engagement Program Initiatives
Major Initiatives:
• Internal and external stakeholder 			
		 consultation sessions on Alternative 			
		 Safety Approaches
• Development of Elevator Mechanics
		 Certification Program consultation
• Formation of a Safety Standards
		 Administrators’ Group

*Retired March 31, 2010
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Boiler Technology
Advisory Committee
Eric Steinson / Chair
Derek Belton
Ed Florencio
John Martin
Blaire Masztalar
Brian Morgan
Steve Patrick
Brian Reiter
Brian Topping
Garry White
Electrical Technology
Advisory Committee
Ted Simmons / Chair
Eddie Alfonso
Farmand Ghafari
Stan Hussey
Fred Kaempffer
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Jim Narayan
Keith Switzer
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Technology Committee
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Ray DeMeyer
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Bunny Wortman
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Advisory Committee
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Jamie Good
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Ken Spicer
Brian Sweet
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Wayne Wiltse / Chair
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Ken Green
Bruno Mannsberger
Joe Medeiros*
Jamie Tattersfield
George Trousdell
* These members represent the
Amusement Rides portion of this
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was divided into two separate entities.

Risk Reduction
Working Groups
Boiler
Mandatory Maintenance on
<30m2 Low Pressure Steam Boilers
Brian DeJager
Blaire Masztalar
Mark Simpson
Electrical
Review of Canadian Standards
Association Z462/PISA
Eddie Alfonso
Stan Hussey
Seth Nair
Ivan Pye
Keith Switzer

Elevating Devices
Elevator Mechanic
Certification Program
Corrie Archer
Gordon Heard
Rob Houston
Hugh Richards
Vlad Zachata
Emergency Operations
Risk Reduction
Corrie Archer
Kevin Cheong
Ray DeMeyer
Steve Gamble
Houssam Hamze
Inge Holvik
Will Johnston
Lyle Kuhnert
Wendy Morrison
Brad Shearer
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Brian Sweet
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Jason Gill
Ken Green
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